Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-7-2008

Banner Life Ins. Co. v. Mark Wallace Dixson Irrevocable Trust Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34873

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

Cross-Defendant/Appellant Tammy Sue Dixson (hereinafter referred to as "Tammy")¹ and Mark Wallace Dixson (hereinafter referred to as "Mark") were married on January 1, 2000, and remained husband and wife at the time of Mark's death from Amytrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), which is commonly known as Lou Gehrig's disease, on May 5, 2006. During the parties' marriage, and prior to Mark's diagnosis with Lou Gehrig's disease, Mark applied for and obtained a \$300,000 term life insurance policy (the "Policy") from Banner Life Insurance (hereinafter "Banner Life") and named Tammy, his spouse, as the beneficiary.

Mark required skilled nursing care due to the debilitating nature of the disease from December 2004, until his death. Two change of beneficiary designations are at issue in the case at bar, both of which were dated after Mark entered the nursing home in 2004. The first Beneficiary Change Form was "signed" by Mark on or about January 31, 2005. This Beneficiary Change Form did not contain Tammy's consent as required by the Policy. This Beneficiary Change Form was not received by Banner Life.

The Policy premiums for 2005 and 2006 were paid by the Dixson's family home teacher, Cory Armstrong. Tammy asserts that the payments constituted a loan to Mark and Tammy. However, the Trust asserts that the premium amounts were paid by Cory Armstrong and were therefore a gift which caused the policy to become his separate property.

¹ Appellant Tammy Sue Dixson is referred to in the pleadings and the record as "Tammie;" however, Ms. Dixson's first name is correctly spelled as "Tammy." Thus, Ms. Dixson's name herein is spelled "Tammy," rather than "Tammie."

Mark, assisted by his mother and step-father, Jackie and Robert Young, (referred to as "Jackie" or "Robert" or collectively as the "Youngs") filed a *pro se* divorce action, naming Tammy Sue Dixson as the defendant on August 18, 2005. The Honorable David E. Day issued a *Joint Temporary Restraining Order (Property)*, which specifically prohibited either party (or their agents)² to the divorce from changing life insurance policy beneficiaries. Mark obtained a Default in the divorce action but such default was set aside by Judge Day on April 25, 2006 because Mark did not effect personal service of the Complaint upon Tammy. A decree of divorce was never entered and the divorce action was dismissed with prejudice on June 19, 2006.

The second purported Beneficiary Change Form, made on or about April 27, 2006, was orchestrated by Mark's mother, Jackie and his step-father, Robert. The second Beneficiary Change Form was not signed by Mark, but was signed by Mark's step-father, Robert, on April 27, 2006 under a power of attorney. Tammy's written consent to the change of beneficiary, required by the Policy, was not obtained. This change of beneficiary removed Tammy as the Policy beneficiary and named Mark's mother, Jackie Young, as the primary beneficiary. The April 27, 2006, Beneficiary Change Form was made in violation of the terms of the *Joint Temporary Restraining Order* issued in the divorce proceeding. Tammy had no knowledge of the 2005 or the 2006, change of beneficiary forms until after Mark's death. Jackie subsequently assigned the Policy proceeds to the Mark Wallace Dixson Irrevocable Trust (hereinafter "the Trust"), which was created by Jackie following Mark's death.

Tammy disputes the validity of both the 2005 and 2006 attempted

² Emphasis added.

beneficiary changes on the grounds that the required spousal consent was not obtained for either. Tammy further disputes the validity of the 2006 change of beneficiary which violated the *Joint Temporary Restraining Order (Property)* issued in the divorce proceeding, violated the terms of the Policy and was in contrast to Idaho law.

Claims for the Policy proceeds were filed by both Jackie and Tammy following Mark's death. Banner Life filed an interpleader action, placing the proceeds of the Policy with the Court for determination of which claimant was entitled to the proceeds. Cross-motions for summary judgment were filed by Tammy and the Trust. The trial court ruled that the change of beneficiary form executed by Robert, via the power of attorney, in 2006 was valid and granted the Trust's motion for summary judgment. The trial court denied Tammy's motion for summary judgment. The trial court awarded the Trust attorney fees and costs. Tammy appeals the trial court's decision.

B. Course of Proceedings Below.

Plaintiff, Banner Life, filed a *Complaint for Interpleader* on January 23, 2007, naming the Mark Wallace Dixson Irrevocable Trust and Tammy Sue Dixson as defendants. (R. Vol. I, PP. 7-45). On February 1, 2007, the Trust filed its *Answer to Complaint for Interpleader and Cross-claim* against Tammy, alleging that Tammy's claim to the Policy proceeds was without merit because the 2005 and 2006 Policy premiums were made by a third party as a gift to Mark, thereby rendering the Policy Mark's separate property permitting Mark to remove his spouse as the Policy without his spouse's consent. (R. Vol. I, PP. 45-50).

On March 2, 2007, Tammy filed her Answer to Complaint for Interpleader, Answer to Cross-claim and Third-Party Complaint against Robert and

Jackie Young. Tammy, in her Answer to Cross-Claim, denied that the Trust was entitled to the Policy proceeds on the basis that: (a) the Trust was not the real party in interest; (b) Idaho Code §41-1830 provides that the Policy proceeds are Tammy's separate property; and (c) that Tammy did not consent to the changes removing her as beneficiary as required by the Policy. (R. Vol. I, PP. 55-56). Tammy's Third Party Complaint against the Youngs alleged that the Beneficiary Change Form submitted by Mark on January 31, 2005, was invalid because Tammy had not consented to the change as required by the Policy. Tammy further alleged, in her Third Party Complaint, that the Beneficiary Change Form signed by Robert on April 27, 2006, was invalid because: (a) Tammy had not consented to her removal as Policy beneficiary as required by the Policy; (b) any change in life insurance beneficiary was prohibited by the Joint Temporary Restraining Order (Property) issued by Judge Day in the divorce proceeding filed by Mark against Tammy; (c) that the Youngs breached their fiduciary duties under the power of attorney by acting in their own best interest in naming Jackie as the beneficiary of the Policy; and (d) the change of life insurance beneficiary without spousal consent by Tammy violated Idaho law. (R. Vol. I, PP. 56-61).

The Youngs filed a *Reply to Third Party Complaint* on March 6, 2007, admitting that Mark and Tammy were married and admitting that Tammy's consent was not given for the April 27, 2006, Beneficiary Change Form. (R. Vol. I, P. 63, ¶ 1; P. 64, ¶ 3).

On May 16, 2007, Tammy filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. Vol. I, PP. 68 A-C) and a Memorandum in Support of Tammie Sue Dixson's Motion for Summary Judgment and Tammie Sue Dixson's Memorandum in Opposition to the Mark

Wallace Dixson's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 7). Tammy requested that the Court rule as a matter of law that the Beneficiary Change Forms signed by Mark, or by Robert, via power of attorney, were invalid because they lacked Tammy's written consent to her removal as beneficiary. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 7, PP. ________). Further, Tammy requested that the Court rule as a matter of law that the attempt to remove Tammy as beneficiary of the Policy violated Idaho Code §41-1830. Tammy also asserted that judgment as a matter of law should be entered against the Trust on the basis that the April 27, 2006, Beneficiary Change Form violated the Joint Temporary Restraining Order in the divorce action. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, Ex 7, pp 8-10). Tammy filed the Affidavit of Tammy Sue Dixon in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment contemporaneously with her Motion for Summary Judgment (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8). Tammy filed a Reply Memorandum in Opposition to the Mark Wallace Dixson's Motion for Summary Judgment on June 8, 2007. (R., Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 16).

The Trust filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on March 14, 2007, asserting that the Trust was entitled to judgment as a matter of law (see R. Vol. I, P. 3, 3/14/2007). The Trust also filed a Motion to Strike Portions of the Affidavit of Tammy Sue Dixon in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment on May 29, 2007. (R. Vol. I, P. 68D). On June 13, 2007, Tammy filed a Motion to Strike Portions of the Affidavits of Robert Young, Jackie E. Young, Kaye Baker, Cory Armstrong, and Canyin Barnes in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. Vol. I, PP. 68G-68V). Each party's Motions for Summary Judgment and Motions to Strike were heard by the trial court on June 15, 2007. The trial court, the Hon. Thomas A. Neville presiding, ruled from the

bench on the parties' respective Motions to Strike (Tr. Vol. I, P. 15, ll. 17-25; PP. 16-28; P. 29, ll 1-6). An Order Re: Motion to Strike Portions of the Affidavits of Robert Young, Jackie E. Young, Kaye Baker, Cory Armstrong, and Canyin Barnes was entered on August 14, 2007 (R. Vol. I, P. 68N). An Order Re: Third Party Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Portions of the Affidavit of Tammie Sue Dixon in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment was issued on August 14, 2007 (R. Vol. I, P. 68S).

The trial court took the *Motions for Summary Judgment* filed by each party under advisement. (Tr. Vol. I, P.63, Il. 24-25; P. 64, Il. 1-13). On November 9, 2007, the Court issued its *Memorandum Decision and Order* granting the Trust's *Motion for Summary Judgment* (R. Vol. I, P. 69). An *Order, Judgment and Decree* was issued on November 14, 2007. (R. Vol. I, P. 93). On November 19, 2007, the Trust filed a *Memorandum of Costs and Attorney Fees* (R. Vol. I, P.102B, ex 19). The *Affidavit of Thomas G. Walker* and the *Affidavit of Mackenzie Whatcott* was filed on November 19, 2007, in support of the Trust's request for an award of attorney fees and costs. (R. Vol. I, P. 102B, ex 20 and 21).

Tammy filed an Objection to Fees and Costs on November 30, 2007. (R. Vol. I, P. 96A). The Trust's Response to Tammy Sue Dixson's Objection to Memorandum of Costs and Attorney Fees was filed on December 4, 2007. (R. Vol. I, P. 96J). Oral argument was heard on the Trust's request for an award of fees and costs on January 11, 2008. (Tr. Vol. II). The trial court awarded the Trust's fees and costs, and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with Respect to an Award of Costs and Fees to the Mark Wallace Dixson Irrevocable Trust; & Tammie Sue Dixson on January 16, 2008. (R. Vol. I, P. 101A).

Tammy filed a *Notice of Appeal* on December 21, 2007, appealing in essence the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the Trust and denial of her crossmotion for summary judgment (R. Vol. I, P. 97-101). grant of attorney fees and costs against her and for the Trust. (R. Vol. I, P.109). An *Amended Notice of Appeal* was filed on February 21, 2008.

C. Statement of Facts.

Mark Wallace Dixson and Tammy Sue Dixson were married on January 1, 2000, and remained husband and wife until Mark's death on May 5, 2006, from Lou Gehrig's disease (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 1). On or about April 23, 2003, Mark completed an application for life insurance with Banner Life Insurance Company (R. Vol. I, P. 8; PP. 12-40, ex A; P. 102, ex 1, ¶ 5; P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 3), and named his wife, Tammy, as sole beneficiary of the \$300,000 life insurance policy under Part I, Section B of the Policy Application. (R. Vol. I, P. 24; P. 102, ex 1, ¶ 6; P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 4). On April 29, 2003, Banner Life issued Policy Number 17B635069 to Mark, insuring his life and naming Tammy as the beneficiary upon Mark's death. (R. Vol. I, P. 14; P. 24). The Beneficiary Change Form, which becomes a part of the Policy, states that spousal consent is required in the State of Idaho prior to removing the spouse as the beneficiary of the Policy. (R. Vol. I, P. 41).

On or about September 29, 2003, Mark was diagnosed with Amytrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), also known as Lou Gehrig's Disease. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 2, ¶ 7; P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 5). Following his diagnosis with ALS, Mark's condition deteriorated to the point that he required skilled nursing care and was admitted to Life Care Center of Treasure Valley in December, 2004. (R. Vol, I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 6; P. 102A, ex 2, ¶ 9).

Mark continued to reside in the nursing home, requiring 24-hour care until his death on May 5, 2006, due to respiratory failure caused by ALS. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 6; P. 102A, ex 1, ¶ 15; P. 102A, ex 4, ¶ 11). Mark's primary care physician, Dr. Louis M. Schlickman, attested in a sworn statement that in "March of 2006, Mark was in the advanced stages of [Lou Gehrig's Disease] and was residing in a long term care facility because he was completely unable to physically care for himself." (R. Vol. I, P. 102, ex 3, ¶ 9). Mark was cognitively intact, but "he was significantly hampered due to his limited ability to communicate." (*Id.* at ¶ 9).

Tammy visited Mark on a daily basis, except when required to travel to Grand Rapids, Michigan, with her sons to facilitate court-ordered visitation with their biological father, when her mother was terminally ill and when she was on bed-rest orders due to her pregnancy in January and February, 2005. In January and February, 2005, she visited Mark a couple of times each week. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 13). Cory Armstrong, Mark and Tammy's family home teacher from the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, visited Tammy and Mark once per month and sometimes twice per month from approximately February, 2004 to 2005. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶¶ 10, 11, and 12).

Mark was unable to work from approximately July 22, 2003, until his death due to the effects of ALS, and, as a result, could not support his family and the marital community. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 7). Mark and Tammy paid the Banner Life Policy premiums in 2003 and 2004, but in 2005 and 2006, the financial toll of Mark's terminal illness required Mark and Tammy to seek financial assistance. Mark and Tammy turned to Mark's mother and step-father, Jackie and Robert Young for help, but they refused to

provide financial assistance to Mark and Tammy. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 9). Mark and Tammy confided in their family home teacher, Cory Armstrong, who offered to pay the Policy premiums in 2005 and 2006, with the understanding that the payments were a loan which would be repaid by Tammy upon Mark's death. Tammy told Jackie about Cory Armstrong's loan for payment of the policy premiums. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 10).

On or about January 31, 2005, Mark purportedly executed a beneficiary change form for the Policy, changing the named beneficiary from his wife, Tammy, to his mother, Jackie. (R. Vol. I, P. 41, ex A). On the same date, Robert and Jackie caused their attorney to draft a power of attorney for Mark naming Robert as the attorney-in-fact. (R. Vol. I, P. 102, ex 1, ¶ 9; P. 102A, ex 4, ¶ 8). Mark was not able to sign the power of attorney in January, 2005. (R. Vol. I, P. 102, ex 3, ¶ 5). The power of attorney was notarized, but there are dates handwritten on the notary block and there are two separate dates, approximately one year apart. The notary block recites that Mark appeared before the notary "[o]n this 31st day of January, 2005" and above that date is a handwritten notation "and 3rd day February 2006." (R.Vol. I, P. 102, ex 3 ¶ ¶ 5 and 6). At the bottom of the notary block, at the bottom of page 6 of the power of attorney, is a signature stamp which reads "Mark Dixson." (R.Vol. I, P. 102, ex 3, ¶ ¶ 5 and 6).

The January 31, 2005, Beneficiary Change Form, did not contain Mark's signature, but rather his initials. (R.Vol. I, P. 41). The written initials on the January 31, 2005, power of attorney, which are purportedly Mark Wallace Dixson's, and the Beneficiary Change Form of the same date are significantly different.

The Beneficiary Change Form dated January 31, 2005, provides, in a line directly

below the policy owner's signature line, "_______ Additional Signature **(if necessary). Directly below the "additional signature" line, the Beneficiary Change Form provides "**[t]he following states **require** a spousal signature AZ, CA, **ID**, LA, NV, NM, TX, WA, WI and Puerto Rico." (R. Vol. I, P. 41) (*emphasis supplied*). Mark and Tammy resided in Idaho; however, Mark's spouse, Tammy, **did not** sign the Beneficiary Change Form as required by the Beneficiary Change Form. (R. Vol. I, P. 41; P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 27).

Mark's mother and step-father drafted a pro se Complaint for Divorce for Mark naming Tammy as the defendant. The Complaint for Divorce was filed in Ada County on or about August 18, 2005. (R. Vol. I, P. 102, ex 1, ¶ 11). The divorce Complaint was typed, presumably by Jackie, and "signed" by Mark via a signature stamp for "Mark Dixson." (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 36, ex F). In August, 2005, Mark could not write or type due to the advanced state of his ALS. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 36, ex G, ¶ 7). On August 18, 2005, the Hon. David E. Day issued a Joint Temporary Restraining Order (Property) which provided:

The judges of the domestic relations court of Ada County are of the opinion that all parties to such proceedings ought to be subject to a joint restraining order from the date of institution of the proceeding or service of process in order to maintain the status quo regarding their property. Therefore, pursuant to I.R.C.P. 65(a) the plaintiff and defendant are prohibited from doing the following acts during the pendency of this action without specific written consent of the parties or prior Order of the Court.

Cashing, borrowing against, canceling, transferring, disposing of, or changing the beneficiaries of any insurance or indemnity policy, including without limitation life, ...held for the benefit of the parties...

(R.Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 14, and ex A thereto) (emphasis supplied).

The Joint Temporary Restraining Order also provided:

...this Joint Temporary Restraining Order shall become a temporary injunction and shall remain in effect as a temporary injunction until a final order is entered on the Complaint, Petition or Motion, or until further order of the Court...This order shall be binding on each party, on their servants, employees, attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with those who receive actual notice of this order by personal service or otherwise.

(Id.)

On January 9, 2006, Judge Day, upon Mark's sworn application, entered a *Default* against Tammy, in the pending divorce action. The sworn *Testimony of Default Applicant* submitted by Mark, in support of his application for the entry of default against Tammy in the divorce action, stated: "I am totally disabled and unable to move. My only means of communications is (*sic*) via alphabet board and eye blinks. My disease, ALS, or Lou Gerhig's Disease, is terminal and without a cure." (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, and ex G thereto, at p. 2 ¶ 7). Thereafter, on January 27, 2006, Tammy moved to set the default aside on the basis that she had not been personally served. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 39, and ex H thereto). On April 26, 2006, Judge Day set aside the *Default* against Tammy. (R. Vol. I, P. 102A, ex 8, ¶ 41 and ex J thereto). The divorce proceeding was pending at the time of Mark Wallace Dixson's death. The Court entered an *Order for Dismissal with Prejudice* in the divorce case on June 19, 2006.

Despite the joint temporary restraining order, Robert, acting under the power of attorney, completed a Beneficiary Change Form naming his wife, Jackie E. Young as the primary beneficiary of the Policy on April 27, 2006. (R. Vol. I, P. 41; P. 102A, ex 4, ¶

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