# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-1-2008

### Banner Life Ins. Co. v. Mark Wallace Dixson Irrevocable Trust Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34873

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

Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment. (R., Vol I, p. 102A, Ex. 8) On June 26, 2007, Tammy filed the Affidavit of Jana Knowles. (R., Vol I., p. 5.)

### C. Statement of Facts

Mark and Tammy were married on January 1, 2000. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 4.) Mark was 41 years old at the time. (*Id.*) Tammy was Mark's second wife. Mark had six children of his previous marriage: Elizabeth, Christina, Brenda, Cheri, Michael, and Andrea. (*Id.*) On April 22, 2003, Mark took out a \$300,000 life insurance policy with Banner Life Insurance Company bearing policy number 17B635069 ("the Policy") insuring his life. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 5, Ex. A.) Section B of the application Part I, attached to and made part of the policy, identified "Tammy Sue Dixson" as the beneficiary. (*Id.*)

In September of 2003 Mark was diagnosed with Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), also known as Lou Gehrig's Disease. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 7; p. 102, Ex. 2, ¶ 3.) Mark required skilled nursing care and was admitted into the Life Care Center of Treasure Valley in December of 2004. (R., Vol. I, p. 102, Ex. 10, ¶ 5.) Due the progression of the disease, Mark's motor skills became hampered, as well as his ability to verbally communicate. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 9; p. 102, Ex. 2, ¶ 4.) On January 31, 2005, Mark executed a Durable Power of Attorney naming his parents, Jackie Young and Robert Young, and his brother, David Dixson, as his attorneys in fact. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 3, ¶ 5, Ex. A.) The Durable Power of Attorney was notarized on January 31, 2005, by Kaye Baker, an employee of Life Care Center of Treasure Valley. (*Id.*)

On August 18, 2005, Mark filed for divorce from Tammy. (R., Vol I., p. 102A, Ex. 8, Ex. F.) Jackie Young, acting as Mark's agent pursant to the Durable Power of Attorney, assisted Mark in preparing divorce documents. (*Id.*) Mark attempted to serve Tammy with divorce papers for six months. (*Id.*) He had difficulty serving Tammy, as she had left the state of Idaho. (*Id.*) Ultimately, Mark obtained a default divorce decree on January 9, 2006. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 12, Ex. C.)

Tammy alleges that she visited Mark on a "daily basis, except when required to travel to Grand Rapids, Michigan, with her sons ... and when she was on bed-rest orders due to her pregnancy in January and February of 2005." (R., Vol. I, p. 102A, Ex. 8, ¶ 13.) It is curious that she mentions her pregnancy, but not the identity of the father. In the Complaint for Divorce filed by Mark on August 18, 2005, Mark verified that no minor children were born as issue of the marriage and no children were conceived during the marriage. (R., Vol. I, p. 102A, Ex. 8, Ex. A.) Paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Complaint for Divorce state:

- 4. **Minor Child/ren.** The parties do no have any minor children.
- 5. Wife's Child/ren, Born or Conceived During this Marriage.

The following child was born to Wife during the marriage: however. Husband is not the father of the child:

(*Id.*) Additionally, Mark testified in the Testimony of Default Applicant filed on January 5, 2006 to the following:

I want a divorce because my spouse and I have differences, which are: SHE HAS HAD AN ONGOING AFFAIR WITH THE EX-SPOUSE OF MY EX-SPOUSE. SHE CONTINUES THIS RELATIONSHIP OPENLY AND TRAVELS TO

MICHIGAN FOR THEM TO BE TOGETHER. IN DECEMBER, 2004, SHE PLACED ME IN THIS SKILLED CARE FACILITY AND HAS DESERTED ME SINCE THAT TIME.

(R., Vol. I, p. 102A, Ex. 8, Ex. G.)

Mark's recreational therapist at the Life Care Center of Treasure Valley, Canyin Barnes ("Ms. Barnes"), worked closely with Mark from the time he was admitted in December of 2004 until his death. (R., Vol. I, p. 102A, Ex. 10, ¶¶ 3-5.) Ms. Barnes testified that Tammy's visits to the nursing home were sporadic, not even once a month, and each visit was short and almost obligatory. (R., Vol. I, p. 102A, Ex.10, ¶ 16.)

During 2005 and 2006 Mark executed two Beneficiary Change Forms with regard to the Policy. The first Beneficiary Change form was executed on January 31, 2005. (R., Vol I, p. 102A, Ex. 10, ¶ 10, Ex. A.) Ms. Barnes assisted Mark in completing the Beneficiary Change Form. (*Id.*) Mark signed the Beneficiary Change Form in the presence of Ms. Barnes. (*Id.* at ¶ 13.) Ms. Barnes then personally mailed the form to Banner Life Insurance Company on January 31, 2005. (*Id.* at ¶ 14.) The January 31, 2005 Beneficiary Change Form changed the primary beneficiary of the Policy from Tammy to Mark's mother, Jackie Young. (R., Vol. I, p. 102A, Ex. 10, Ex. A.) Robert Young, Mark's step-father, was designated as the contingent beneficiary. (*Id.*)<sup>2</sup>

After the default divorce was entered on January 9, 2006, Tammy filed a motion to have the default divorce set aside. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 13.) The court set aside the judgment on April 26, 2006. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 13, Ex. D.) On the same day, Mark was taken to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The district court noted in its decision that "... it is not known whether such form was actually received by Banner Life Insurance ...." (R., Vol I., p. 85)

the emergency room. Robert and Jackie Young were at the hospital that day, but Tammy was not. (R., p. 102A, Ex. 11, ¶ 17.) Mark directed Robert Young to execute a second Beneficiary Change Form on the Policy because he wanted to make sure that the death benefit proceeds would be available to care for his six children. (R., Vol. I., p. 102A, Ex. 4, ¶ 10.)

Under the terms of the Policy, Mark had the authority as the owner of the policy to change the beneficiary designation. The Policy provides at page 7:

### Change in Beneficiary.

During the insured's lifetime, the owner may change the beneficiary designation unless he or she has waived the right to do so. No beneficiary change will take effect until a written notice is received at our administrative office. Such changes will become effective on the date written notice is received by us. All changes will be subject to any payment made by us before notice was received.

(R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 5, Ex. A.)

On approximately April 27, 2006, Robert Young, acting under the Power of Attorney and at Mark's request, sent Banner Life Insurance Company the second Beneficiary Change Form, reaffirming the Policy's primary beneficiary as Jackie E. Young. (R., Vol I., p. 102A, Ex. 4, ¶ 10, Ex. A.) Although Jackie remained the primary beneficiary, Robert was replaced as contingent beneficiary by Mark's six children. (R., Vol I., p. 102A, Ex. 4, ¶10, Ex. A.) The Beneficiary Change Form was faxed to Banner Life Insurance Company on April 28, 2006. (R., Vol. I, p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 14, Ex. E.)

On May 5, 2006, Mark died of complications from ALS in Boise, Idaho. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 15.) On May 20, 2006, Jackie Young sent Banner Life Insurance Company a Proof of Death/Claimant's Statement. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 16, Ex. F.) On May 23, 2006, a

lawyer for Tammy Sue Dixson sent Banner Life Insurance Company a letter demanding payment under the terms of the Policy. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 17, Ex. G.)

On December 15, 2006, the Mark Wallace Dixson Irrevocable Trust was registered in Idaho. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 18, Ex. H.) Jackie Young is named as Trustee and the designated beneficiaries of the Trust are Mark's children: Elizabeth, Christina, Brenda, Cheri, Michael and Andrea. (*Id.*) On the same day the Trust was registered, Jackie Young also executed an assignment formalizing the vesting of the Policy proceeds in the Trust. (R., Vol I., p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 20, Ex. I.)

The primary issue in this case is the characterization of the Policy as separate or community property. The Policy is a term insurance policy. (R., Vol. I, p. 102, Ex. 1, ¶ 5, Ex. A.) As a term insurance policy the characterization of the Policy as a community or separate asset depends on the source of funding of the premium for the final term of the Policy. In 2005 and 2006 the insurance premiums were paid by Mark's long time friend and home teacher Cory Armstrong. (R., Vol I., p. 102A, Ex. 5.) Cory paid the premiums as a gift to Mark. (R., Vol I., p. 102A, Ex. 5, ¶ 8.) Cory intended the payments to be a gift only to Mark and not to the community. (*Id.*) Because there was no cash value in the Policy and because the final premium was paid with a separate property gift to Mark, there was no property interest in the Policy arising for the benefit of the community estate or Tammy upon Mark's death. Because the Policy and the Funds are separate and not community property, no consent was required from Tammy for Mark to change the beneficiary.

As a result of the competing claims to the life insurance proceeds between the Trust and Tammy, Banner Life Insurance Company filed a Complaint for Interpleader on January 23, 2007. (R., Vol. I, pp. 7-44.)

#### II. ADDITIONAL ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues presented on appeal in Tammy's brief are somewhat conflated<sup>3</sup> and in the interest of avoiding any confusion the Trust has addressed the issues in this brief in the order of the issues contained in the "Argument" section of Tammy's brief.

### III. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

### A. The Trust is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs incurred in defending against Tammy's appeal.

The Trust is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs incurred in defending this Appeal pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 12-120(3), 12-121, 15-8-208, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54 (e)(1), and Idaho Appellate Rules 40 and 41.

Because Tammy's appeal consists simply of asserting errors by the trial court without reasoned argument or authority supporting such assertions, the Trust is entitled to an award of attorney fees under Idaho Code §12-121. *KEB Enterprises v. Smedley*, 140, Idaho 746, 755, 101 P.3d 690, 699 (2004). Where plaintiff failed to provide argument or authority in support of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The confusion arises from the conflicting issues addressed in three different portions of the brief. First, the issues enumerated in the "Table of Contents" are identified A through G, however issue D is missing. Second, the substance of the issues enumerated in the "Table of Contents" differs from the substance of the issues enumerated in the section of the brief titled "Issues on Appeal" located at page 13. Third, the issues enumerated on page 13 are identified A through H, as opposed to A through G. Fourth, the substance of the issues identified in the "Issues on Appeal" section differs slightly from the issues actually addressed in the "Argument" section of the brief located at pages 14 through 32. Fifth, the issues enumerated in the "Argument" section are identified A through G, and H is missing.

only issues on appeal that were properly before the court, the appeal was brought and pursued frivolously, unreasonably and without foundation and thus, defendant was entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code §12-121, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(e)(1) and Idaho Appellate Rule 41. *Anson v. Le Bois Race Track, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 303, 939 P.2d 1382 (1997).

When appellant has merely disputed the trial court's factual findings by pointing to conflicts in the evidence, and when the trial court's findings are supported by substantial evidence, the appellant is simply inviting the appellate court to second-guess the trial court on conflicting evidence. *Krebs v. Krebs*, 114 Idaho 571, 576, 759 P.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 1988). *In Krebs*, the Idaho Court of Appeals held that the appellant did just that and awarded respondent her attorney fees and costs pursuant to Idaho Code §12-121 and I.A.R. 41 because the appeal was brought without foundation. *Id.* Tammy's appeal is frivolous because she is simply asking this court to second-guess the trial court's findings.

The Trust has briefed the issue of attorney fees with respect to Idaho Code § 12-120(3) and Idaho Code § 15-8-208 below, and incorporates that argument in support of its request for attorney fees and costs incurred in defending this Appeal.

# B. Tammy is not entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal.

Tammy is not entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal to this Court. The entirety of Tammy's argument for attorney fees is that, "Appellant, Tammy Sue Dixson, is [sic] respectfully requests an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal, as a prevailing party,

pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 41, Idaho Code §§ 12-120, 12-121, and 12-107." (Cross-Defendant/Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 13-14.)

"A party waives an issue cited on appeal if either authority or argument is lacking, not just if both are lacking." *State v. Zichko*, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 970 (Ct.App. 1996). This Court cited to *Knudson v. Bank of Idaho*, 91 Idaho 923, 435, P.2d 348 (1967) for its holding that "assignment of error would not be reviewed by the Supreme Court where assignment was not supported in brief or argument." *Id.* "A party waives an issue cited on appeal if either authority or argument is lacking, not just if both are lacking." *Thompson v. Motel 6*, 135 Idaho 373, 378, 17 P.3d 874, 879 (2001).

Finally, this Court held:

"YESCO provided no argument in support of its request for attorney fees. Additionally, YESCO is not the prevailing party in this case. Consequently, YESCO is not entitled to an award of attorney fees."

Young Electric Sign Company v. Winder, 135 Idaho 804, 810, 25 P.3d 117, 123 (2001). This Court has also ruled that a request for attorney fees on appeal that fails to include any argument to support a claim to attorney fees should be summarily denied. *Toyama v. Toyama*, 129 Idaho 142, 922, P.2d 1068 (1996).

Although Tammy did set forth statutory authority for an award of attorney's fees, she completely failed to provide any argument in support of her request for attorney fees. Consequently, Tammy is not entitled to an award of her attorney fees on her appeal to this Court. Furthermore, she has provided no explanation or argument as to how the Trust has acted frivolously by defending this Appeal.

#### IV. RESPONSE TO TAMMY'S ARGUMENT

A. The district court properly held that Idaho Code Section 41-1803 does not alter the character of the life insurance proceeds.

The district court properly held that the character of the Policy is not altered by Idaho Code Section 41-1830. Idaho Code Section 41-1830 provides as follows:

Life Policy as Separate Property of Married Woman. Every policy of life insurance heretofore or hereafter made payable to or for the benefit of a married woman, or after its issue heretofore or hereafter assigned, transferred or in any way made payable to a married woman, or to any person in trust for her or for her benefit, whether procured by herself, her husband or any other person, and whether the assignment or transfer is made by her husband, or by any other person, shall, unless contrary to the terms of the policy, inure to her separate use and benefit.

Idaho Code §41-1830 (2006). The statute specifically excludes situations where the terms of the policy provide for something other than is provided by the statute. Simply stated, the terms of the policy prevail. The method of changing beneficiaries may be prescribed by the insurance policy, charter or bylaws of the insurance company. *Noyes v. Noyes*, 106 Idaho 352, 355-356, 649 P.2d 152, 155-156 (Ct.App.1984); *see generally* 44 Am.Jur.2d *Insurance* § 1753 (1982). "Where the policy, as a matter of contract, specifies the method of changing beneficiaries, ordinarily a change of beneficiary can be accomplished only in the manner pointed out in the policy, with the result that an attempt to make such change in any other manner is ineffectual." *Noyes*, 106 Idaho at 356, 649 P.2d at 156. The Policy provides at page 7:

#### Change in Beneficiary.

During the insured's lifetime, the owner may change the beneficiary designation unless he or she has waived the right to do so. No beneficiary change will take effect until a written notice is received at our administrative office. Such changes will become effective on the date written notice is received by us. All changes will be subject to any payment made by us before notice was received.

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